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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
ORLANDO DIVISION

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
V. CaseNo: 6:14-cv-1534-Orl-22TBS
JASON P. STINSON,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION
Plaintiff the United States (the “Governmeéntiled this action seeking injunctive relief
and disgorgement from Defendadison P. Stinson (“Stinson”) for alleged violations of the
Internal Revenue Code. (Doc. No. 1). The Could lepreliminary injunction hearing in January
2016. The Court then entered a preliminary infiomcagainst Stinson that enjoined him from
preparing tax returns or otherwiseeogting his tax preparation businés®oc. 69). On October
17-21, 2016 and November 21, 2016, the Court held-dagi bench trial. Hang reviewed the
evidence presented at the preliampinjunction hearing and at thjghe Court makes the following
findings of fact and conclusions of law. The Gowrill grant the requested injunctive relief and
will order the equitable remedy of disgorgement in the amount outlined below.
I.  FINDINGS OF FACT
A. Stinson’s Tax Preparation Business
Stinson began his tax preparation careeP0i0 as a manager for LBS Tax Services
(“LBS”). (Doc. 10 1 12). In order for Stinson tetome the manager of an LBS store, Stinson paid

the owner of the LBS franchise, Walner Gettl $5,000. (Doc. 197 at 155). Mr. Gachette covered

! Stinson filed an interlocutory appeal (Doc. 70), and an Eleventh Circuit panel affirmedrthefgra
preliminary injunction (Doc. 163).
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the store’s expenses while Stinson managedstbre and receiveZb% of the profits.I€l.) In

2011, at some time before the 2012 tax filiegson, Stinson became a franchise owner of one
LBS store located in Tampa, Florida. (Doc. 3a8t4). In 2012, Stinsorkpanded his franchise to

a total of twelve LBS storesld{) Stinson owned the LBS stores by way of Jason Stinson LLC.
(Doc. 55-4 at 13-15). Stinson was the sole owner of Jason Stinson, LacC1@Y at 158). Stinson

hired managers to run each store, primarilyvitlials who were former tax preparers for Stinson
the year beforeld. at 162—-163). Like Stinson had done, Stinson’s managers paid Stinson a fee to
become a manager, and in return, Stinson paidnginagers a salary that Stinson determinéd. (

at 168).

In 2013, Stinson decided he did not wantd business under the LBS name, so he
downsized his operations to ten store locatemd started doing business under the name Nation
Tax Services (“Nation Tax”). (Do@2-3 at 3). Stinson remainedtime same physical spaces as
his former LBS stores, kept the same employees, and continued to use the same customer files.
(Doc. 197 at 166). In 2015, Stms owned two stores in Tamp&lorida; one store in St.
Petersburg, Florida; one store in Birminghamal®dma; two stores in Raleigh, North Carolina;
one store in Greenville, North Carolina; one stor Augusta, Georgia; one store in Fairfield,
Alabama; and one store in Albaryeorgia. (Doc. 32-2 at 6-7).

In 2012, Stinson personally prepared hundretl tax returns(Doc. 197 at 160-161).
However, by 2013, Stinson stopped preparing tadrme and left the tax preparation to his
employees. Ifl. at 163). Despite ownership of moreaithten tax preparation stores, Stinson
maintains that he does not believe he hdficgent knowledge to prpare tax returnsld. at 164).

In total, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRSdentified over 14,000 tax returns prepared by

Stinson’s stores. (PlaintiffExhibit 765 (“Pl.’s EX.")).



At all relevant times, Stinson has beee #ole owner of the LLC that owns his tax
preparation stores, and Stinson determines th@nv_LC is operated. (Doc. 197 at 160). Even
though Stinson changed his LLC name from J&&tomson LLC to Natiomax Services LLC, he
has owned his tax preparation stores througlstme LLC. (Doc. 197 at 159-160). Stinson is the
only individual with signature authority ol af Nation Tax Service&LC’s bank accountsld.
at 239). All tax preparation fees that were gaitllation Tax (or LBS when Stinson operated under
that name) were deposited into the LLC’s bank accoulitsa{ 238—-239). Although the bank
accounts have been in the LLC’s name, Stingilizes the accounts for personal and business
purposes.Ifl. at 240). In addition to owning tax preparat&tores, Stinson also owns rental real
estate propertyld. at 152).

According to Stinson, his tax preparatioonrss target “underprivileged, undereducated
poor people” and earned income credit claifi®c. 57 at 17; Doc. 197 at 173). Stinson’s
customers are “unsophisticated,” according to lang the customers come to Stinson’s stores
because they need assistance with theirrédurns. (Doc. 10 § 70; Doc. 197 at 173:20-25).
Additionally, Stinson’s businesemphasizes marketing andvartising. (Doc. 197 at 175-176).
LBS called its advertising efforts “guerilla mating,”—dropping yard signgoing to residences,
and shopping centers to advertidd. @t 176). LBS advertisedspecific refund per child and a
tax refund that taxpayers woulelceive the same day. (Pl.’'s Ex. 26B)e practice at Stinson’s tax
preparation stores was to not charge a fee foh & return upfront, butather extract the fee
from the taxpayer customers’ refund amount. Theesfa larger refund vgabetter for the client
and for Stinson. Stinson often charged in excé$6500 per return, sometimes as much as $999,

oftentimes without informinghe taxpayer of the fee amouinThe goal was to get the maximum

2 (Doc. 211-12 at 76-77 (discussing “$999 week” where Stinson would charge $@®8faring tax
returns that week); Doc. 195 at 53, 125, 293; Doc. 196 at 98; Doc. 197 at 16—17; Doc. 55-9 at 40—41; Doc. 198 at
63; Doc. 211-34 at 48).
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refund to make the customer happy and deduct a larger fee. (Doc. 201 at 181-182, 194-195; Doc.
55-9 at 53, 66).

B. Testimony of Stinson’s Taxpayer Custorars: Tax Returns That Are False and
Fraudulently Prepared

The Government claims that Stinson, byywa LBS and Nation Tax, has repeatedly
engaged in the following fraudulent practic@y:falsifying deductions on Form 1040 Schedule A
to reduce a customer’s taxable income by repgrtiersonal expenses as business expenses and
falsifying unreimbursed employee expenses andtelide contributions; (2) falsifying Form 1040
Schedule C deductions by fabricating businesseksraporting profits olosses from a false
business or inflating profitsand losses from an actual business; (3) claiming false education
credits; (4) falsifying a customer’s earned income tax credit; (5) failing to conduct proper due
diligence; and (6) failing to disclose fees gmbvide customers complete copies of their tax
returns. (Doc. 218 at 27). To support its claims at trial, the Governmeahpdsnore than fifteen
taxpayer witnesses who testifiedgttvarious amounts and claims their tax returns were false,
and that they had not provided the informatioat tthe tax return preparer put on the return.
Additionally, the Government submitted by deitios the testimony of forty-one witnesses and
their corresponding tax returns, primarily taxpayer customers, shdestified that they had not
provided the false amounts on their tax retufB®c. 211). Many of Stinson’s customers have
been audited. Additionally, pursuant to Rule 65hef Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, evidence
that was received with the motion for preliminary injunction, that is otherwise admissible, became
part of the evidence at trial. (Doc. 195 at 35).

Stinson targeted underprivileged individualed earned income ciiedlaims (Doc. 57 at

17; Doc. 197 at 173). The Earned Income Tax CgHITC”) “was enactedo provide relief for

3 As is describeihfra, the goal was to reach an income falling “magic range” that maximized the
taxpayer’s refund.
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low-income families hurt by rising food and energy pricéited States v. BaxteB72 F. Supp.
2d 1326, 1328 (M.D. Ala. 2005) (citirgorenson v. Sec. of Treasury of U435 U.S. 851, 864,
106 S. Ct. 1600, 1609, 89 L. Ed. 2d 855 (1986)). TH&CHS$ a refundable tax credit available to
low-income workers and depends upon a multitude of factors, such as income, filing status, and
number of dependents. (Doc. 6Qain.2). For example, in tax year 2012, customers with earned
income between $13,050 and $17,100 were eligible for the maximum EITC. Stinson would falsify
information to claim the maximum EITC in a numioé ways, or in a combination of these ways:
claiming bogus dependerftdabricating unreimbursed employee business expenses and charitable
contributions, and fabricating business income or expenses.

1. False Deductions on Form Schedule A

A Form Schedule A (Form 1040) (“Schedule A”used for itemizing various deductions.
(Doc. 198 at 2). Common deductionslude home mortgage intergptoperty taxes, charitable
contributions, and unreimbursed employee essnexpenses. (Doc. 198 at 62). Unreimbursed
employee business expenses “are expenses #met eovered by your employer that are required
as part of your job.”Ifl.) Many of Stinson’s customersax returns reported large employee
business expenses witbbs that do not typically have such expenskeks) For example, a bus
driver would not have significant unreimbursedeade expenses becaudeua driver rarely, if
ever, drives a private caild() Many tax returns @pared by Stinson or his employees claimed
deductions for business mileage that were algti(and obviously) noweductible commuting

miles® Oftentimes, the amounts claimed on the taxrres included tens of thousands of miles

4 (Doc. 195 at 55; Doc. 200 at 21; Doc. 197 at 54; Doc. 211-19 at 35-37; Doc. 211-11 at 14-17, 22-23;
Doc. 211-20 at 33 & Pl.’s Ex. 96).

5 (Doc. 195 at 45-50, 58-60, 91-95 & Pl.’s Exs. 204 & 205 (improperly claiming business miles and
vehicle expenses for both husband and wife); Doc. 195 at 241, 243-244 & Pl.’s BExam2) (3oc. 195 at 289—
291, 297, 307, & Pl.’s Exs. 417, 418, & 419 (three years of claiming improper unreimbxpsedes and vehicle
expenses); Doc. 200 at 8-10, & Pl.’s Ex. 522; Doc. 196 at 87-88 & Pl.’s Ex. 400 (preparer told him commuter miles
could be deducted & the tax return listed as mileage almost 3 times what he would have told th®; pepal®6
at 208-210 & Pl.’s Ex. 366; Doc. 196 at 231 & Pl.’s Ex. 249; Doc. 197 at 63—64; Doc. 211-3 at 30—32, 45-46 &
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more than the customers actually drove for woBwen after a hired consultant, Hermen Cruz
(“Mr. Cruz”), see infrainstructed Stinson’s employees tkatpayers could not claim commuter
miles as business mileage, Stinsopteparers continued to do’so.

Additionally, many of the taxeturns prepared by Stinson or his employees contained
business expenses for meals, entertainmamd, uniforms—expenseand amounts that the
taxpayers testified were false and that thagt not provided to the tax return prep&r@ther tax
returns claimed personal cell pleoexpenses as unreimbursedibess expenses even though
these were clearly not a business exp@nisemany instances, thiadividuals’ unreimbursed
business expenses made up a large portion, sonsetimaee than half, of the income they had
earned that yeaf. For example, it is illogical for amdividual making around $35,000 a year to
spend as much as halftbkir yearly income, around $16,000,ureimbursed business expenses.
(Doc. 55-34 at 22—-23 & Doc. 55-36). One of thereturns claimed employee business expenses
of $6,000 more than the taxpaydrisome for that year. (Doc. 2136 at 32 & Pl.’s Ex. 26). Many
of the tax returns contained falgharitable contributions in aunts that the taxgyers testified

were not accurate, and that they had not, amaldvnot have, provided tbe tax return preparét.

Pl.’s Exs. 67 & 70; Doc. 211-41 at 24-25 & Pl.'s Ex. 17).

6 (1d.)

7 (Doc. 197 at 19-21 & Pl.’s Ex. 189; Doc. 55-11 at 13-15 & Doc. 55-12; Doc. 55-17 at 17-22 & Doc. 55-
18; Doc. 55-30 at 20-21 & Doc. 55-31; Doc. 55-32 at 18-22 & Doc. 55-33; Doc. 55-34 at 15-18 & Doc. 55-35;
Doc. 55-8 at 134).

8 (Doc. 195 at 50, 59 & Pl.’s Exs. 204 & 205 (reporting over $2,000 for meals and entertainment for work
when taxpayer testified she had no such expenses); Doc. 196 at 205-206 & Pl.’s Ex. 24€p@dakesdor cell
phone and uniforms); Doc. 211-23 at 19 & Pl.’'s Ex. 21 at 9; Doc. 211-41 at 25-26 & Pl.’s Ex. 17)).

9 (Doc. 211-13 at 20 & Pl.’s Ex. 22; Doc. 211-41 at 29-30, 39 & Pl.’s Exs. 17 & 19; Doc. 197 at 178-179,
285-286; Doc. 196 at 205-206 & Pl.’s Ex. 249).

10 (Doc. 195 at 305-307 & Pl.’s Ex. 419 (reporting employee business expenses in an amonfitio61%
wages that year); Pl.’s Ex. 366 (reporting employee business expenses of over $41,000 wheonetahaigear
was only $57,358); Doc. 211-41 at 38-39 & Pl.’s Ex. 19 (reporting unreimbursed employesbesipenses as
$34,493.00 when taxpayer’s total income was $41,000.00); Doc. 55-32 at 29 & Doc. 55-33 (reporting employee
expenses as 65% of income); Doc. 55-34 at 22—-23 & Doc. 55-36 (reporting $15,8%8ayex business expenses
when taxpayer made a total of $34,666 in income that year); Doc. 200 at 17; Doc. 197 at 62 & Pl.'s Ex. 376).

11 (Doc. 200 at 17 & Pl.’s Ex. 519; Doc. 195 at 305; Doc. 211-36 at 16, 26 & Pl.’s Ex. 25; Baat 19
169-172 (taxpayer testified she gave minimal amounts to her church but taxstatad that she gave over $5,000
to charity); Doc. 195 at 305, 311-312 & Pl.’s Exs. 419, @20 separate years whae return stated charitable
contributions that taxpayer denies and denies providing that information to preparer); Doc. 196 &¥&Bll's
Exs. 400, 401 (multiple years reporting charitable cortiobg that taxpayer denies providing and testifies are
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On another tax return, Stinson’s employee wraligfisted taxpayers as having dependéat®n
another return, the reported mortgage interest that year exceeded the mortgage statefdent.

A number of the tax returns prepared by Stmeo his preparers falsely claimed what is
called household help income (“HSH*%.HSH is “a very unusual income because it's reserved
for people who work in someone’s home: dotitesvorkers, people who work as maids or
nannies.” (Doc. 198 at 59). In tagturns prepared at Stinson’sr&s, HSH “was used quite a few
times with types of employment you would not egpto see generate the household income. For
example, a hair dresser. A hdnesser would not be [HSH].IA.) Notably, it israther uncommon
to have HSH incoméJnited States v. Barbgb91 F. App’x 809, 813 (11th Cir. 2012)

Unreimbursed employee business expensegamerally reported in specific line-item
detail on an IRS Form 2106, and the total amafir@mployee businesxgenses is reported on
the “unreimbursed employee expenses” lindhenSchedule A. (Doc. 218 at {1 108). Many 2014
tax returns prepareid 2015, after Mr. Cruz provided trang, claimed unreimbursed employee
business expenses on Schedule A but did notdaupporting Form 2106 explaining the basis of
the claim?®

2. Educational Credits

Another area replete with falgtl amounts was education credit€On some tax returns,

gualified education expenses were claimed on theetarn, yet the taxpayer testified that he or

false); Doc. 197 at 61 & Pl.’s Ex. 367; Doc. 200 at 16-17 & Pl.’s Ex. 519 (“I know | never claimed any charity on
my income tax, never.” Yet, tax return claims $1,500 in donations to charity).

12 (Doc. 211-14 at 14-15; Doc. 200 at 51).

13 (Doc. 211-23 at 16-18 & Pl.’s Ex. 22).

14 (Doc. 211-32 at 30-31 & Pl.’s Ex. 134; Doc. 211-28 at 31 & Pl.’s Ex. 11; Doc. 211-30 at 23 & Pl.’s Ex.
129).

15 In the Eleventh Circuit, unpublished decisions may be cited as persuasive, but ngf, binttiarity.

16 (Doc. 55-8 at 134-135; Doc. 211-3 at 19-21; Doc. 201 at 268-269, 272; Doc. 90; Doc. 103; Doc. 55-
12).

17 A taxpayer may claim the Americ&@pportunity Credit for qualified education expenses incurred by the
taxpayer, the taxpayer's spouse, or the taxpayepsrdents, including college or postsecondary tuitibited
States v. Lawren¢®o. 15-62233-CIV, 2016 WL 5390569, at *3 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 27, 2016)
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she did not attend schoolathyear and did not tethe tax preparer otherwis®.On other tax
returns, the taxpayer had attengetiool but the amount of quadifl education expenses claimed
were greater than the tay@as’ out-of-pocket expensés Other times, the amount of qualified
education expenses claimed on a tax return didnmaith the official documents that taxpayer
customers had provided the prepafe(Doc. 197 at 259, 268-269). Stinson received these
documents because he kept them in his customer fidep. (

3. Fabricated Business Income ané&xpenses on Form Schedule C

A Form Schedule C (Form 1040) (“Schedulg @&mizes various business expenses and
is used to list income and expenses related to self-employment, primarily the business losses and
gains of a sole proprietdt.(Doc. 198 at 60). Reporting incorfrem a business on a Schedule C
is one way to increase total income on a tax retianat 61). A number of the tax returns admitted
into evidence listed a “fake business” on a Sche@utam. In other words, the tax return reported
losses and profits from a business that thpager testified he or she did not hav&edéDoc. 211-
4 at 15-16; Pl.’s Ex. 61) (perting a “private carebusiness that the taxpayaid not have and did
not report that she had). In addition to tax returns that reported fake businesses, other returns
overstated business profits. (Doc. 211-10 at 25PB%E Ex. 136) (reportingncorrect profit from

cleaning business).

18 (Doc. 195 at 46—-47 & 51 Pl.'s Ex. 204; Doc. 195 at 291-292 & Pl.’s Ex. 417 (taxpayer testified he did
not go to school that year, and did not tell the preparer that he did, but taxcietns $1,000 in education
expenses); Doc. 196 at 205 & Pl.’s Ex. 249; Doc. 196 at 130, 134-135 & PI.’s Ex. 399 (claiming qualifieddreducat
expenses of almost $2,000 for taxpayer who did not graduate high school); Doc. 55-¥B&& #1-s Ex. 115;
Doc. 195 at 236-238 & Pl.’s Ex. 424 (did not attend school but tax return listsequatiucation expenses); Doc.
197 at 54-55 & Pl.’s Ex. 37Doc. 196 at 204—-205 & Pl.’s Ex. 249 at 17).
19 (Doc. 196 at 40-43 & Pl.’s Ex. 347; Pl.’s Ex. 784 (scholarship award exceeds education expenses)).
20 (Doc. 211-18 at 30-33 & Pl.’s Ex. 2 (qualified edtion amount on 1098T does not match tax return)).
21 |f there is an employee-employer relationship and the employee has unreimbursed expenses arising out
of the employment, those expensestaree reported under a ScheduleS&e Butts v. C.I.R49 F.3d 713, 714
(11th Cir. 1995). In contrast, if a sole proprietor, self-employed individual, or a gepatedctor has expenses or
business losses, those expenses are to be reported under a Schedule C.
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For example, Georgia Gordon’s 2011 and 20%2eturns reported that she had a business
in “home health services,” but Ms. Gordon testifitbat she did not have a business. (Doc. 195 at
117-118, 122-123; PIl.’s Exs. 379 & 380). Alberto Beremsl tax return repted that he had a
personal security business; however, Mr. Bereautéstified that, while he was employed as a
security guard, he did not have a security essrand did not know it was on his tax return. (Doc.
195 at 285-287; Pl.’'s Ex. 417). One of Stinson’'spgrers reported that taxpayer, Latrecia
Burkes, had a hair business; however, Ms. Burkeifi¢elsthat she never told the preparer that she
had a hair business, did not know this was antdeereturn, and would not have permitted it on
her return had she known. (Dd®6 at 138-139, 143-146; Pl.’'s E®98 & 399). In contrast, Ms.
Burkes testified that the tax preparer askedwigo does her daughter’s hair, but that was the
extent of their conversationd()

Stinson’s name appeared on a tax return that falsely reported that Tywana Williamson had
a home cleaning service business with a podf§5,000. (Doc. 197 at 55-57; Pl.’s Ex. 371). Ms.
Williamson testified that both the business and the profit reported were false, and that she would
not have told the preparer tqoet a business she did not haud.)(Additionally, Stinson’s tax
preparer reported a cleaning service business on Arquetta Montgomery’s tax return. (Doc. 211-27
at 15; Pl.’s Ex. 44). Ms. Montgomery, however, téstifthat she did not have a cleaning services
business and never did, anditthe tax preparer did nask her if she had ondd() In other
instances, the taxpayer had a busnesit the profit reported was incorrect. (Doc. 196 at 175) (“I
didn’t give them that 6,291. So | mean, it went intp income, | guess, as far as for the business
to generate a larger tax return.”).

Additionally, Stinson and hipreparers would combine improper Schedule C losses with
false deductions listed on a cmster’'s Schedule A in order foaudulently lower a customer’s

taxable income. (Doc. 218 at A2262). For example, on DaviduHter's 2013 tax return, one of
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Stinson’s tax preparers report@aon-existent business with redhan $12,000 in false losses on

the Schedule C and also reported more than $30,000 in false deductions on Schedule A. (Doc. 211-
16at 17 & Pl.’s Ex. 64) (tax return falsely statit taxpayer had a mang business). Similarly,

on Ms. Montgomery’s 2013 tax return, a Stinsoeparer claimed a false business loss of $9,050

on the Schedule C, while also claiming falseeimbursed employee buess expenses of $17,873

and improper charitable contributions in thecamt of $2,679. (Doc. 2127 at 15, 24, 25 & PI's

Ex. 45).

4. Due Diligence Violations

A tax return preparer must make reasonableiii@gto ensure the customer is legitimately
entitled to the EITC, document compliance witle due diligence requirements, and keep that
documentation for three years. 26 C.F.R1.8995-2. This includes completing the “Paid
Preparer's Earned Income Cite@hecklist” (“Form 8867”). (dc. 218 at 31). The Government
presented evidence of a numbédue diligence violations.

Stinson’s preparers would check boxes Barm 8867 without actually receiving
documentation from customersSge e.g Doc. 211-10 at 33 (no medical records) & Ex. 136
(checking box for medical records); Doc. 55-18 &t Doc. 55-14 at 11). For example, Stinson’s
preparers checked on the Form B8bat the taxpayers provided medical and school records for
their children when they had n@tFor tax returns claiming ScheduC business profits or losses,
Stinson or one of his preparers would check thattaxpayer had provided “receipts or receipt

books” on the due diligence Form 8867 when such information had not been prdvided.

22 (Doc. 196 at 96 & Pl.’s Ex. 401; Doc. 197 at 65-66 & PI.’s Ex. 367; Doc. 211-10 at 33 & PI.’s Ex. 136
at 9; Doc. 55-11 at 41 & Doc. 55-14; Doc. 211-38 at 25 & Pl.’s Ex. 127; Doc. 196 at 174 & Pl.’s Ex. 385; Doc. 211-
18 at 29-30 & Pl.'s Ex. 1 at 11: Doc. 211-30 at 38 & Pl.’s Ex. 130; Doc. 211-14 at 24; Doc. 211-5 at 30-31 & Pl.’s
Ex. 137).

23 (Doc. 195 at 121 & Pl.’s Ex. 381; Doc. 196 at 173 & Pl.’s Ex. 385; Doc. 196 at 137 & RI39€ (see
page 23 of the tax return); Doc. 197 at 58 & Pl.’s Ex. 369).
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Despite the fact that taxpagesire supposed to receia complete copy of their tax returns
pursuant to 26 U.S.C. 88 6107 and 6@95& number of taxpayer wésses testified that they did
not receive a copy of their tax retufisin other instances, the taxma received a copy of their
tax return but it was missing pages or forfhigOne taxpayer had received documents with
completely different amounts than were bis actual tax return. (Doc. 211-24 at 37-39).
Alarmingly, some taxpayers testified that they sigjblank forms or that they were not shown the
page with the amounts writteon it. (Doc. 211-30 at 43-46; 00211-39 at 48-49). Stinson’s
managers denied that they had pded blank forms. (Doc. 208 at 43—-44).

At trial, Stinson called several of his store managers as witnesses. While some of Stinson’s
employee witnesses admitted that tax returnsewmcorrect or did not contain supporting
documentation, they denied fault and blameddipayers for providing false information. (Doc.
201 at 262-267, 271-272; Doc. 208 at 103, 112). @tinld not call a taxpayer witness of his
own or present a single accurate tax return gmegp by his stores. According to Stinson, the
taxpayers are not credible or reliable becaus# thx returns were prepared years ago, and the
taxpayers would not adt to their wrongdoing® (Doc. 219 at 63—66, 85, 112). Stinson made a
similar argument in opposing the preliminary injtiocn that the Court rejected because there was
“no persuasive reason thiscount the sworn testony of over twenty custners . . ., [and] the
same argument could be made about the rehaloli the testimony ofStinson’s tax return
preparers.” (Doc. 69 at 5).

The Court finds that the taxpayers’ testimony is credible. First, many of the audits

submitted into evidence stated that the Taxn@leance Officer (“TCO”) did not recommend a

24 (Doc. 196 at 75-76; Doc. 211-3 at 21-22; Doc. 211-14 at 38; Doc. 211-17 at 11-12; Doc. 211-18 at 25;
Doc. 211-21 at 11-12; Doc. 211-23 at 23; Doc. 211-31 at 13; Doc. 211-33 at 44; Doc. 211-28 at 39).

25 (Doc. 211-9 at 32 (taxpayer did not receive For®&2that contained the fabricated business expenses);
Doc. 211-41 at 18, 41 (tpayer did not receive the Schedule A itemized deductions)).

26 Even if the taxpayers were negligent in not reviewirar return, this is not the issue before the Court in
this lawsuit against Stinson. The Court does not belieafesiblves Stinson of liabilitior acting as a tax preparer.
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penalty against the taxpayer becatisetaxpayer did not show “intentional disregard” for the tax
laws?” (Pl.’s Exs. 284, 355, 356, 368, 399)dugh Stinson points to amier of audits that did
not recommend preparer penalties, there weaey audits that did recommend considering a
penalty against the prepaférMany of the taxpayertestified that theydid not know anything
about tax preparation and trusted Stinsorosestto prepare theiax returns properl? Stinson’s
own witness testified that Stinson’s stores taagébwer income areas where the taxpayers were
not aware of what credits are available, $inson argues that these same taxpayers were
knowledgeable enough to know how to falsify amsuntincrease theirxaefund amount. (Doc.
208 at 138). Furthermore, Stinson has not predextielence showing th#te taxpayers knew the
amounts were wrong, or that they knew they veeemitting tax returns with improper claims. In
contrast, the taxpayersstdied that they were not awareetamounts were on tmeeturns and did

not review them.%ee e.g.Doc. 211-3 at 20, 67). Notably, sowieStinson’s preparers made false

claims while preparing their own individuaktaeturns. (Doc. 208 at 62—64 (claiming employee

27 stinson contests the admissibility of all of the auditsiitted into evidence at trial. (Doc. 219 at 152—
173). The Court has addressed the admissibility of auditrfilgtiple times. First, the Magistrate Judge addressed
the issue in the context of Stinson’s motion to compel the deposition of the IRS investigator Ricky Poole or
Stinson’s alternative motion to strikér. Poole’s declaration. (Doc. 117 at 7) (stating that “the Court fails to
understand how it can be said that the audits were not made in the ordinary course of thesiR&s”). This
decision was appealed to the undersigned Judge, and the decision was affirmed. (Doc. 143 at 16:d &)4dfindi
the audit files were made in the ordinary course of busere$shat Stinson had not demonstrated that the audit files
were not trustworthy). Stinson raised the issue again ktanid the Court permitted briefing during trial. (Doc. 184
at 2). The Court overruled Ssion’s objection because Stindarled to cite a single case support of his argument,
and the Court did not find that Stinson had provided a persuasive reason to depastgramiitling. (Doc. 204 at
15-17). Despite this, Stinson dedicated over twenty-five pages of his post-trial brief to the admissibility of audit
files. (Doc. 219 at 152-172, 206—-211). Stinson did not file a motion for reconsideration of any prior order on the
issue. More importantly, Stinson has not met the starfdaréconsideration: “(1) an intervening change in
controlling law; (2) the availability of new evidence; and (3) the need to correct clear error or manifest injustice.”
McGuire v. Ryland Grp., Inc497 F. Supp. 2d 1356, 1358 (M.D. Fla. 2007) (citation omitted). The moving party
must meet a very high standard, grag “facts or law of a strongly coimeing nature to induce the court to
reverse its prior decisionltl. Notably, “[a] party who fails to present its strongest case in the first instance generally
has no right to raise new theories or arguments in a motion for reconsidedati@iifison had a full and fair
opportunity to brief the issue, and Stinson has failed to convince the Court that reconsideration is appropriate.

28 (See e.g PI's Exs. 368, 399, 607, 609, 611, 613, 615, 616-618, 628) (not an exhaustive list)). Stinson
argues that over fifty of the two-hundred audits found no preparer misconduct or did not recommend a penalty.
However, the Court does not find that this precludes a finafifigaud. Stinson attached an exhibit to his post-trial
brief that was not admitted into evidence at trial (oneigiit “new” exhibits). The Court does not consider this
exhibit, or any of the other exhibits, that Stinson atddo his trial brief that were not admitted at trial.

29 (SeeDoc. 195 at 80, 158, 315; Doc. 196 at 88, 243; Doc. 197 at 41, 163; Doc. 200 at 13-14).
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expenses in an amount that was more thantb&f income); Doc. 55-37 at 141-143; Pl.’s Ex.
192; Doc. 55-38). The Court finds that the taxpdgstimony is probative dfaud on the part of
Stinson and his employees.

Due to the filing of improper claims on annmeasurable amount of tax returns, Stinson’s
tax preparation stores have caused harm to tlitedJ8tates Treasury and to the taxpayer victims.
Notably, many of Stinson’s customers haverbaudited by the IRS and, consequently, owe

money on their modest incomes as a relult.

C. How Stinson’s Tax Preparers Were Trained

At trial, Stinson did not admit culpability @how remorse for the harm he has caused his
customers. Stinson took the position that, because he provided some training to remedy some of
the issues with tax preparation, he should ndtddé liable. The Court finds it relevant to discuss
the training provided by Mr. Gachette to employeEEBS, including Stinson’s employees, and
the training that Stinson provided to employeeBlation Tax after he changed the name of his
stores. Notably, Stinson owned his tax prepanastores through the same LLC, it just changed
names from LBS to Nation Tax. After the narignge, Stinson operated stores at the same
physical addresses and used the same custde®rStinson has not shown a material difference
in their operations aside from teaperficial name of the stores.

Stinson and many of his managers and pegparad no experience preparing tax returns
prior to their involvement with LBS and Nati Tax. (Doc. 197 at 153; Doc. 211-6 at 9-10; Doc.
55-40 at 24). At LBS, traing was focused on policies, naging employees, and marketing

potential customer¥. (Doc. 10 T 27; Doc. 197 at 154). LRSnployees were given scripts to

30 (Doc. 195 at 61-62 (owing $14,000 to the IRS), 99, 127, 132, 214-215, 260; Pl.’s Ex. 383; Pl.’s Ex. 249;
Pl.’s Ex. 399; Doc. 196 at 99—100 (owing a little more 45,000 to the IRS); Doc. 197 at 69; Doc. 211-41 at 42—
43; Doc. 211-20 at 19). The following tax returns were audited by the IRS: Pl.’s Exs. 399, 429, 586—740.

31 Training was 70% marketing and 30% related to the software program. (Doc. 197 at 155).
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memorize when interviewing customersd. Pl’s Ex. 186). At LE5, employees, including
Stinson, were trained to reportramuting miles as business milés report money spent on food
as deductible meal expenses, and to repdirpbene bills as unreimbursed employee business
expenses regardless of whether the phone wed fas personal or business purposes—all of
which are improper. (Doc. 55-2 at 64, 66—&4c. 197 at 178-79). From 2010 to 2013, while
Stinson was operating under the LBS name, Stiasdrhis employees attended various trainings.
(Doc. 32-2 at 1). This includedn instruction sheet that shewpre-determined responses for
guestions on the tax return without regardhe individual taxpayés response or supporting
documentation. (Pl.’s Ex. 186). At one of LBS3rainings, Stinson met Marlene Guzman (“Ms.
Guzman”), who also worked as an LBS mrparer and manager from 2009-2013. (Doc. 211-12
at 8; Doc. 211-12 at 6-8, 12, 68, 69). While Ms. Garzrdid not work at any of Stinson’s stores,
she knew Stinson, attended training with §&bim, and communicated wittinson’s managers.
(Id. at 14, 15, 17, 18, 20, 21, 92, 136).

Ms. Guzman’s deposition was admitted at t{Bloc. 211-12). Ms. Guzman testified as to
the training she received from LBS. Specificatlyat LBS employees were trained to figure out
how to decrease or increase a customer’s taxatdene to get the taxpayer “more income to get
to the amount that you're needinglt(at 30). LBS called this “aeximizing the refund” which
meant to “basically let [the customer] know that’re going to look for more forms to get you
more money.” (Doc. 211-12 at 41)BS also used the term “maghumbers” at one of LBS’s
trainings and in a document provided to the paeparers. (Doc. 211-12 at 41). One of LBS’s
documents provides that “magic numbeis” an income range from $16,000 to $18,000,
presumably, where the taxpayer would get theestrgefund. (Pl.’s Ex. 456; Doc. 211-12 at 43).
The document states that “anything lower than this you try to add income,” and instructs that if

anything higher, “to try to takaway income.” (Pl.’s Ex. 456). Ahe first year of training, LBS
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employees were instructed to “[jjJust ada&come.” (Doc. 211-12 at 44) (Q: “Just make up a
number?” A: “That’s it.”). By the second year, employees were told to “lure [the customer] in to
basically state that they make extra incomiel’) (

Additionally, LBS employees weteained to ask questions to take away income to hit the
“magic range” or get the “perfect number’reake the customer happy. (Doc. 211-12 at 49, 53;
Doc. 55-9 at 36; Doc. 211-34 at 81-82). If atomer’s income was lower than $10,000, the goal
was to increase their income so they couldg@te money by adding additional forms, such as a
Schedule C.I¢l.) The document provided at training e\gates “input an income of 10000 on sch
c,” and LBS employees were trained to ihpuspecific Schedule C income depending on the
number of children the taxpayer had. (PEs. 456; Doc. 211-12 at 51). LBS employees also
determined what to put on the customer’s tax return for business mileage. (Doc. 211-12 at 55; Doc.
55-9 at 117 (“I was taught to play with thosesimess mileage numbers to get to a number that
would help increase his refund.”)). Ms. Guzndid not know at the time that she was being
instructed to provide a falseumber on the return, but lookingdk with her present knowledge
of the tax laws, she believes that LBS trained her to prepare tax returns in a manner that resulted
in false information inputted on those returnd. at 163).

Stinson asserts that he spariot of money on training fiemployees. (Doc. 197 at 171).
This training did not occur until after Stinsaras notified that he was under IRS investigation,
and he had met with IRS Agent Ricky Poolil. @t 206—208). At thatime Stinson contacted
Latino Tax to provide a two-dayaiining session for his manageathough Stinson did not attend
the entire training nor did he complete any tutsri@cause, according to him, “I didn’t do taxes.
| didn’t need to.” (d. at 298, 210, 212:21-22; PI.’s Ex. 210Npt until the summer of 2014, after
this lawsuit was filed, did Stinson hiMr. Cruz to provide additional trainingld¢ at 213). Mr.

Cruz works at H & R Block and is knowledgeable with regard to tax preparation—he has been
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preparing taxes for ovéwenty-five years.Ifl. at 213—-214). Stinson’s magexs, but not Stinson

or the tax return prepareegtended Mr. Cruz’s trainingld. at 220). Mr. Cruz deeloped a training
program based on his review of tax returnspared at Stinson’s stores. (Doc. 208 at 151-152,
165). Notably, Mr. Cruz did noprovide training related to bumess expenses, Schedule A,
Schedule C, or the EITC—the areas where Stirssonstomers’ tax returns display a pattern of
false claims. Ifl. at 154-155). Mr. Cruz believed th&tinson’s employees’ knowledge of
preparing tax returns was poor, and they didumaterstand what qualifies as a business mile for
purposes of reporting a business mile deductilwh.af 47; Doc. 55-8 at 47). Mr. Cruz did not
provide oversight review of any tax returngpared by Stinson’s employees. (Doc. 197 at 225).
Mr. Cruz did inform Stinson’s managers tlfay cannot claim commuter miles as unreimbursed
employment expenses (Doc. 55-8 at 51:3-53:10); however, the Government admitted into
evidence tax returns prepared after thagning still claiming improper business milealyemr.
Cruz has not been completely reimbuar$er his services. (Doc. 208 at 155).

In December 2014, Stinson had a CPA, HowdaiKnight, speak with his managers about
not taking every customer that comes in therd{@oc. 201 at 211). Mr. McKnight made clear
that he had not provided any substantive training or reviewed any tax retdrrag. 712, 217,
225-226). Stinson also asked his managers to aeidS tax forum that covers changes in the
tax laws from year-to-year. (Doc. 208 at 218). At least by 2013, Stinson required his employees to
sign a “due diligence handbook.” (Doc. 208 at 91-91; Defendant’s Exhibit 24A (“Def.’s EX.”)).
Lastly, Drake Software, the tax preparation softvihe¢ Stinson used at LBS, provided training
on the use of their software but did not othiseaprovide substantivieaining. (Doc. 197 at 107,

110-112).

32 (Doc. 197 at 19-21 & Pl.’s Ex. 189; Doc. 211-38 at 13, 22; Doc. 55-11 at 13—-15 & Doc. 55-12; Doc. 55-
17 at 17-22 & Doc. 55-18; Doc. 55-30 at 20-21 & Doc. 55-31; Doc. 55-32 at 18-22 & Doc. 55-33; Dé@t55-3
15-18 & Doc. 55-35; Doc. 55-8 at 134).
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Although Stinson provided some unstructuteadning to his managers, which occurred
after the IRS investigation comnmad, the Court does not find théts training is sufficient to
prevent recurrence of Stinsonsnduct. First, a number of immper practices continued after the
training3® Second, the training did not cover the are#s;ussed above, where there is a pattern
of improper claims—Schedule As, Schedule Cs, the EITC, and due diligence. Third, only a small
subset of Stinson’s employees actually receihedtraining—the manage Fourth, Stinson has
not shown remorse or accepted responsibility ferithproper preparation of his customers’ tax
returns. At trial, Stinson mainteed that he does not needkoow how to prepare tax returns
despite ownership of a tax preparation business.

D. IRS Investigation of Stinson

The IRS began investigating Stinson in®a2013. (Doc. 200 at 112). The IRS employee
assigned to investigate Stinson was Mr. Podte. gt 104). Mr. Poole has twenty-six years of
experience working for the IRS and currently irtiggges tax return prepers and promoters of
tax schemesld.) Mr. Poole’s investigationsonsist of interviewing the target of the investigation
and reviewing relevant documenttl.(at 108—-113). Mr. Poole’s inviggative duties also include
determining whether or not to assess civil penalties or to refer the case to IRS counsel to determine

whether to send a request to the Department of Justice to file a lavbsuat 111-112). At the

33 (Doc. 211-18 & Pl.’s Ex. 6 (claiming improper education credit); Doc. 197 at 22 & Pl.’s Bx. 18
(claiming improper status of single); Doc. 211-3 at 24 &2.’s Ex. 65 (improper due diligence checklist); Doc.
211-28 at & PI's Ex. 13 (did not give copy of tax return to taxpayer); Doc. 211-9 & 40PH’s Ex. 40 (tax return
that claims improper Schedule C business expensda@dect business mileag&)pc. 211-11 at 22, 34-37 &

Pl.’s Exs. 35 & 36 (tax return claims improper filintatus & claiming commuter miles as business miles); Doc.

211-14 at 24 & Pl.’s Exs. 29, 30 (improper due diligecivecklist); Doc. 197 at 19-21 & Pl.’s Ex. 189; Doc. 211-38

at 13, 22; Doc. 211-25 at 15-19 & Pl.’s Ex. 54 (tax return claims improper charitable donation and unreimbursed
employee expenses); Doc. 211-4 at 15 & Pl.’s Ex. 61 (tax return listing a fake business); Doc. 211-26 at 41-42 &
Pl.’s Ex. 53 (reporting false profits from a business); Doc. 55-11 at 13-15 & Doc. 55-12; Doc. 55-17 at 17-22 &

Doc. 55-18; Doc. 55-30 at 20-21 & Doc. 55-31; Doc. 55-32 at 18-22 & Doc. 55-33; Doc. 55-34 at 15-18 & Doc.
55-35; Doc. 55-8 at 134); Doc. 55-34 & Doc. 55-36; Doc. 211-33 at 46—49 & Pl.'s Ex. 43). The following are 2014

tax returns admitted as exhibits at trial, that weregrembin 2015, after this laws had commenced and required
adjustments: Pl.’s Exs 5, 6, 9, 13, 15, 29, 30, 35, 36, 40, 43, 47, 49, 53, 53, 58, 61, 65, 66, 90, 94, 102, 103 117, 122,
123, 126, 132, 133, 136, 155, 156, 158, 163, 165, 189, 260, 291.
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end of each investigation, it is Mr. Poole’s jobdietermine whether penalties will be asseséed.
(Id. at 112, 124-125).

In the course of his investigation, Mr. Pedhterviewed Stinson and two of his store
managers?® (Id. at 114-117). Mr. Poole seledt a sample of twenty tax returns from tax year
2012, prepared in 2013, that contaimeSchedule A and a Schedulé®Gld. at 120-121). An IRS
list keeper selected additional tax returns amd ge matters out to TCOs to conduct auditk. (
at 122-123). ThereafteMr. Poole compiled aummary spreadsheet thie audits performed on
tax returns prepared by Stinson and his storesababtwo-hundred auditd 54 of them from tax
year 2012§7 and Mr. Poole included ind¢hspreadsheet the total taXidencies. (Doc. 201 at 32,
152; Pl.’s Ex. 773). According to those auditsjuatinents were made in the following areas:
Schedule A unreimbursed employee business resgse Schedule A chatile contributions,
Schedule C business income or expensesttan&ITC. (Doc. 200 at 151-152). Mr. Poole also
reviewed additional audits ¢éx returns prepared in 2010 and 2011 by Stinson’s tax preparation

stores® These audits were not commissioned byRétrole, but were tax returns randomly audited

34 Mr. Poole testified that penalties had not been assessed in this case, but that he usually waits until the
end to make an ultimate decision regarding penalties. @fcat 125). Right now, this case has not concluded, and
the current status is that it is in litigatiofd.f Mr. Poole testified that he will be assessing penalties at thelénd. (
at 126).

35 In Stinson’s post-trial brief, he argues that Mr. Poole’s testimony is not admidsétlbetcannot render
opinions, and that he cannot testify regarding the audit files. (Doc. 219 at 141-146, 152—-163). Stinson has made this
argument multiple times. The Court addressed Stinson’s objection to Poole’s declaratestiamhy regarding
IRS audit files in its Order denying Stinson’s motiongammary judgment. (Doc. 143 at 14-18). Thereatfter,
Stinson objected to Mr. Poole’s testimony at trial, HreCourt requested briefing on the admissibility of Mr.
Poole’s testimony (Dod.84 at 2 1 4). The Court overruled Stinsastyection to Mr. Poole’s testimony because
Stinson did not cite case law, and the Court found thaPiole’s testimony was permissible under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 803(6). (Doc. 204 at 15-17). Despite theaCihurt requested briefing on this matter during trial,
and has already ruled on it, Stinson reargues the matter in his post-trial brief. Notabbn 8id not file a motion
for reconsideration, and the Court finds that he does not meet the standard for the Court terebensmtterSee
Carroll v. TheStreet.com, IndNo. 11-cv-81173, 2014 WL 5474048, at *5 (S.D. Fla. Apr. 10, 2014) (“a motion for
reconsideration is not a vehicle for relitigating old issues”).

36 Stinson’s stores prepared the following tax returns: (1) in 2013, 4,631 refwhgh 4,599 claimed a
refund, (2) in 2014, 5,089 returns of which 5,037 claimed a refund, (3) in 2015, 4,564 returns af,48fich
claimed a refund. (Doc. 200 at 119-120, Pl.'s Ex. 765)a@mage, 98-99% of the returns claimed a refudd. (

37 The TCOs were auditing the ye2r12, however, they look at other years, in addition to 2012, for
similar issues with the tax returns océogrin other years. (Doc. 200 at 123).

38 Stinson contends that in ninety of these audit files, the taxpayer did not sign agreeing ®ahdit&’s
estimated tax deficiency. (Doc. 219 at 61, n.188) (ciBogernment’s exhibit numbers). Mr. Poole testified that
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by the IRS. Id. at 134). Mr. Poole found th@5% of these tax returmsquired an adjustmentd(
at 134). Stinson also identileseventeen audit files—auditdso not commissioned by Mr.
Poole—that did not include a findj of fraud or recommend taxgmarer penalties, but many of
these audits still required an adjustm&ntDoc. 219 at 62). Mr. Poole testified that he saw the
“same pattern of abuse” among the tax returns he revieldedt (L28).

For tax years 2012-2014, Nation Tax filed 1,8®6returns containing a Form Schedule
A. (Doc. 200 at 170). Of these tax returns, 1,8€ported (the unusual claim for) unreimbursed
employee business expensdd.)(The average wages repmtwas $35,040, and the average
amount of unreimbursed employee business incoa®e$15,450—that is, tleverage percentage
of customers’ wages reported as an unreisgaibusiness expense wWid86 of their income.ld.)
Additionally, Mr. Poole summazed tax returns filed by Natn Tax in 2012-2014 containing a
Schedule C.I¢l. at 171-174). During this period, NationXTaervices filed 5,50fiax returns with
a Schedule C attachedydaonly 137 of these returns claimed a loks, 4t 171-173), while 5,364
claimed a profit, Id.; Pl.’s Ex. 769).

In February 2016, IRS Agent Holly Shield$A$. Shields”), an IR&@mployee assigned to
a group that investigates potengahbusive tax practices, coondited interviews of a randomly
selected sample of Nation Tax customers loca&d. Petersburg, Florida and Tampa, Florida for

the 2013 tax yeaf? (Doc. 198 at 36-39). Ms. Shields overdaw IRS revenue agents, including

these audit files were randomly-picked asdihat were sent to him, but that he had not been involved in these audits
and they were separate from his investigation. (200.at 134—-35). Mr. Poole testified that Stinson himself

prepared at least thirty of the tax retsithat were the subject of these audits. &t 134). While the taxpayers

whose tax returns were the subject of these audits mdaxetsigned expressly agmegiwith the IRS deficiency
determinations, 95% of these tax returrguieed an adjustment after auditinggl.}

3% SeePl.’s Exs. 375, 499, 408, 586-590, 592-595, 597-599, 601, 602, 606, & 657 (though no penalty was
assessed for 657, the audit says that the preparer did net adeperly). Stinson cites eighteen exhibits but states
that only seventeen do not contain a recommendation of preparer miscoBddobg. 219 at 62, n.191).

40 In his post-trial brief, Stinson objects to Ms. St testimony arguing that: (1) it is hearsay because it
was prepared in anticipation of litigation; (2) it is an improper expert opinion; and (3) the sample is not random.
(Doc. 219 at 163-173). Ms. Shields’s testimony wasterassue on which the Court permitted briefing during
trial. (Doc. 184). The Court overruled Stinson’s objection to Ms. Shields’s testimony because Stinson did not
provide a memorandum of law or articulate a legal basis for excluding her testimony. (Doc. 20Dasfite this,
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herself, that conducted interviews$ twenty-seven randomly seled customers in Tampa, and
thirteen customers in St. Petersbutd. &t 38—43). These revenue aigeperformed face-to-face
and telephone interviews with the customeld. &t 44—45). The interviews were not audits and
were strictly voluntary.Ifl. at 46, 66). During the interviewhe taxpayer customers were asked
whether the information on their tax returns was corrégdt.at 45, 79-80). At the end of the
interviews, the taxpayer customers were askesigio a declaration stating that the information
they had provided was accuratéd. (at 47). If, based on theterview, the revenue agents
determined that the tax return contained ficécy, Ms. Shields would use an IRS Form 4549
to report and identify the tax deficiency amouid. @t 47-48). Of the twenty-seven randomly
selected tax returns in Tampa, twenty-one of them, or 77.7%, underreported taxes resulting in a
tax deficiency of $49,363ld. at 55-57; Pl.’s Ex. 478). Of the tt&en tax returns in St. Petersburg,
nine of them, or 69.2%, underreported the custontaxdiability causing a total tax deficiency of
$36,573.56. (Doc. 198 at 57; Pl.’s Ex. 555). In rewngathe sample, Ms. Shields saw improper
claims of Schedule C business I65€ITC due diligence violatior$, and improper claims of

Schedule A losse¥. (Doc. 198 at 59-63).

Stinson raises the issue again in his post-trial brief. (Pb@.at 163—-173). The Court declines to consider Stinson’s
re-arguing of the matter. While the Court has the discretionary power to revisit prior degistsrevn, this is
often by way of a motion for reconsideration, whictswat filed in this case, and is rarely grantédrroll, 2014
WL 5474048, at *5. In any event, a motion for reconsitif@nas not a vehicle for relitigating old issues, as Stinson
is seeking to do heréd. Nonetheless, even had the Court excluded Ms. Shields’s testimony, the Court ultimately
finds that an injunction is warranted for the reasons discussad

41 A Form 4549 is typically used in an audit to detieera taxpayer’s deficienay the refund due to the
taxpayer. (Doc. 109 at 48). Forms 4549 can be used to conclude whether a tax return conmindether an
overstated income amount resulted in an EITC or whether there was a deficiency causing harm to thee@overn
(Id. at 49). Forms 4549 are completed in the normal course of business for the IRS to estinzate.tfd. at 107).

42 See, e.g Testimony of Gordon Jones, (Doc. 200 at 72-73, 77-79) (improper claim of Schedule C
business).

43 See e.g Rickey Hailey’s testimony, (Doc. 200 at 27-28) (Form 8867 stating that taxpayer had provided
school records and medical recordsewhaxpayer testified he did not).

4 See e.g.Rickey Hailey's testimony, (Doc. 200 at 4, 6-12; Pl.’s Ex. 522) (improper claiming ofdsssi
miles, vehicle expenses, and mortgage interest on 2011 return), (Doc. 200 at 15-E3, BIL9) (improper
claiming of charitable contributions, mortgage interest, goddaughter as dependentplayeeivusiness expenses
on 2012 return), (Doc. 200 at 26-29, Pl.’s Ex. 516) (same); Testimony of Gordon Jones (D¢ 22000)
(improper claiming of business mileage and business expenses), (Doc. 200 at 54-59, 67—-68) @tajnopie
charitable contribution @aheducation credit).
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E. Stinson’s Unjust Enrichment

Stinson contracted wittwo third-parties to process ttex refunds of his customers—EPS
Financial (for 2012-2014) and Refundo (for 201BPS Financial and Refundo received the
customers’ tax refunds from the IRS, subtracqatocessing fee, and then transferred Stinson’s
tax preparation fee® a bank account th&tinson controlled. (Bc. 197 at 239-240, 297; Doc.
198 at 10-13). The tax preparer had determinedcthount of fees that would be deducted from
each tax refund, but the fees could not exceed $9%PS Financial, and at Refundo, any fees
greater than $1,100 would be flagged. (Doc. 197 at 297; D@g.at 13). The fee amounts
deposited into Stinson’s account were trackedugh a fee detail report. (Doc. 197 at 299-300;
Doc. 198 at 19-20; PI.’s Exs. 462 & 463). The gfiess deposited to Stinson’s account from EPS
Financial and Refundo are as follo#483,117 in 2012; $2,432,201 in 2013; $2,375,501 in 2014;
and $2,044,311.25 in 2015(Pl.’s Exs. 462 & 463).

For tax years 2012, 2013, and 2014 (tax retéited and prepared in 2013, 2014, and 2015
respectively), Stinson’s storakefl 1,965 tax returnsii a Schedule A; 1,864f these returns had
a Schedule A that claimed unreimbursed employee business expenses. (Pl.’'s Ex. 767). Stinson
received at least $800,101.47 in fémspreparation of these retwn(Pl.’s Ex. 768). Additionally,
for tax year 2011, Stinson was identified as tdwe return preparer on tax returns including a
Schedule A, Schedule C, or thiaported educatiocredits where (1) no Fm 1098-T was issued
by an educational institution for the taxpayer.taxpayer’'s dependent, claiming the education
credit, or (2) a Form 1098-T was issued bt ¢inants or scholarships exceeded the qualifying
education expenses reported on the Form 1098-Tteatthe taxpayer or their dependent claimed
an education credit when he or she had no bptoket education expens@?l.’s Ex. 204; Doc.

196 at 204—-206 & Pl.’s Ex. 249; PI's Ex. 346; Hbs. 371; Pl.’s Ex. 399oc. 195 at 236 & Pl.’s

45 stinson has not disputed that his LLC received these amounts in fees.
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Ex. 424). The evidence showed that Stinsontas@mployees fabricated education expenses on
his customers’ tax returns, claimed personglesses as business expenses on Schedule A and
Schedule C, fabricated businessiabricated charitable donaris, and improperly conducted due
diligence. Bee id; see alsdoc. 197 at 251-255, 262-263, 282—-28& supra Stinson received
at least $149,851 in fees for theeparation of these tax returtis(Pl.’s Ex. 771). Combining the
tax preparation fees received for tax returénging unreimbursed employee expenses from tax
years 2012, 2013, and 2014 ($800,101.41h the tax returns that i@son himself prepared in
2011 containing those forms ($149,851), the Court fthds Stinson has been unjustly enriched
in the amount of $949,952.47.
. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
A. Preliminary Legal Issues
As an initial matter, the Court rejects Stinsargument that thed&vernment is required
to prove fraud in order to prevail. The Government brought threlaims against Stinson, under
three separate provisions of the Internavétrie Code: 26 U.S.C. § 7407, 26 U.S.C. § 7408, and
26 U.S.C. § 7402, only one of which requires prafofraud. (Doc. 1). Th€ourt has previously
held that the Government is n@quired to prove fraud and gnarevail under any of the three

provisions under which brought its claim$? (Doc. 143 at 7).

46 There were 349 total tax returns prepared by Stinson himself in the tax year 2011. (Doc. 201 at 162). The
fee amount was pulled from the e-collect tax preparation page, and the information was contagegssitonher
file. (Id. at 163).
47 Due to an inexcusable delay on the part ofssti's counsel, the Court denied Stinson’s late motion
(made during trial) to withdrawis deemed admissions. (Doc. 204)s relevant to note that the Court does not rely
on Stinson’s deemed admissions for the above findings of fact, although it could have.

48 Additionally, to the extent Stinson argues that the€Bioment is required to prove fraud based on the
doctrine of judicial admission (Doc. 219 at 190-192), the Court rejects this argument’Stmgament consists of
a string cite of a number of cases addieg the doctrine géidicial admission.Ifl.) In that section, Stinson does not
identify the judicial admissions to which he is referrind.)(The Court assumes thidates to Plaintiff's argument
in the facts section that the Goverent must prove fraud because ib@ind by judiciabdmissions in the
Complaint. (d. at 13—32). Though the Government used the word “fraud” in its complaint, it brought three claims
under different provisions of the Internal Revenue Code, only one of which requioé®piraud. Whether the
Government is required to prove fraud is a legal question, not a factual one.

4% This ruling was affirmed by an Eleventh Circuit panel. (Doc. 163 at 15).
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Additionally, Stinson has repeatedly takea gosition that the Gomement cannot prevail
because it has not presented a random sampleCaine rejected this argument in granting the
preliminary injunction, and so did the Eleveincuit. (Doc. 69; Doc. 163 at 15-16). Stinson has
yet to cite case law that requires the Governrteestibmit evidence of a random sample in order
to prevail®® Last, Stinson maintains that expertitesny is required. Not surprisingly, the Court
has already considered and otgal this argument (Doc. 143 at 10, n.6) because Stinson cites no
legal authority requiringn expert witnessSge alsdhe Eleventh Circuit's Opinion on Stinson’s
Interlocutory Appeal (Doc. 163 dt6) (“Stinson has failed tprovide any authority for his
argument that the United States should haveepted an expert withesor submitted only tax
returns that had been auditedtbg IRS to support its claims 8tinson’s improper practices.”).

To the extent Stinson seeks to re-argue issnashich the Court requested briefing during
trial (issues that the Court ruled on one day feihg the close of trial), including objections to
admissibility of evidence and witnesses during thad,objection to audiiles as business records,
Rule 26 disclosure violations, and Rule 37 sanctions, the Court will not revisit these issues at this
juncture>! (SeeDocs. 184, 193, 203, 204). Stinson had a duldl fair opportunity to brief the

issues and did not file a motion for reconsitiera Even had Stinson filed such a motion, he has

50 Stinson cites the following cases in his post-trial brief, all of which are inapposite to the present case:
United States v. Rosi@63 F. App’x 16, 34 (11th Cir. 2008) (a heattire fraud criminal action where the Eleventh
Circuit found there was nothing improper about the use of a sardp&)ex rel. Ruckh v. Genoa Healthcare, LLC,
No. 8:11-cv-1303-T-23TBM, 2015 WL 1926417, at *3 (M.D. Fla. Apr. 28, 2015) (addresses statistical sampling in a
qui tamaction in theDaubertcontext);United States v. Aegis Therapiésc., No. cv-210-072, 2015 WL 1541491,
at *10 (S.D. Ga. Mar. 31, 2015) (in a False Claims Act action, the court denied plaintiffs’ request to supplement
expert disclosures after statistics expert repeatedly testified that she “is not a statistici@)prizon Organic
Milk Plus DHA Omega-3 Mktg. & Sales Practice Litiyo. 12-MD-02324, 2014 WL 1669930, at *13 (S.D. Fla.
Apr. 28, 2014) (order grantingzaubertmotion and addressing whether expert’s cherry-picking of five out of
1,375 scientific articles is reliable anchdae extrapolated t@ll healthy people”)Smith v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc
537 F. Supp. 2d 1302, 1321 (N.D. Ga. 2008) (considering admissibility of survey for determining likelihood of
confusion in a Lanham Act case). Stinson has failed ta@#xphbw these cases relatelie present action brought
under the Internal Revenue Code.

51 The Court requested briefing because Stinson waitgil trial to raise a number of objections to
evidence based on discovery violations. These issues could have been addressed months, if not more than a year,
prior to trial. Stinson’s repeated failure to promptly raigeh issues falls far below the level of practice expected in
federal court. The Court declines to consider Stinson’sgersent of issues the Court ruled on in advance of post-
trial briefing in an attempt to streamline the issues in this case.
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not met the high standard warranting reconsideragee. McGuire v. Ryland Grp., In&97 F.
Supp. 2d 1356, 1358 (M.D. Fla. 2007) (“[a] party who feolpresent its strongecase in the first
instance generally has no righo raise new theories or arguments in a motion for
reconsideration.”).
B. Count I- Permanent Injunction Pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7407

Section 7407, enacted as part of the Tax Refct of 1976, reflects a congressional intent
to prevent abuses by tax preparers in tipenteng of client's income tax liabilitie®Jnited States
v. Ernst & Whinney735 F.2d 1296, 1302 (11th Cir. 1984). “In artieissue an injunction pursuant
to § 7407, three prerequisites must be met: tinstdefendant must be a tax preparer; second, the
conduct complained of must fall within one oétfour areas of proscribed conduct, § 7407(b)(1);
and third, the court must find thah injunction is ‘appropriate tprevent the recurrence’ of the
proscribed conduct, 8 7407(b)(2)d. at 1303. Stinson contends that he is not a tax return
prepareP? (Doc. 219 at 193-198). This Counas already determined titinson is a tax return
preparer under 26 U.S.C. 8§ 7701(a)(36). (DNo. 143 at 10) (“Stinson—by virtue of his
ownership and operation of tax return preparastores and his employnteof individuals to
assist in tax preparation—is a tax return prepatinson owned and operated the tax preparation
stores, hired employees, trained employees, and profited from his tax preparation busseess.”);
also United States v. Mesadjei80 F. Supp. 3d 1113, 1120 (M.DaFR016) (Conway, J.). The
statutory definition otax return preparer is broadly writtéo include those o “employ” others

to prepare tax returns. Notably, the extent of s8tms violations of the tax laws are even more

52 stinson does not cite case law. Stinson cites theatamus that provide when a tax return preparer may
be subject to penalty under 88 6694 and 6695. Thistia case assessing prep@emalties, but rather a case
addressing an injunction pursuant to § 7407. Furthermore, a number of cases refer only to 26 U.S.C. 8§ 7701(a)(36)
when defining tax return preparer for purposes of a § 7407 injunStshlnited States v. Elsas378 F. Supp. 2d
901, 918 (S.D. Ohio 2013)nited States WPugh 717 F. Supp. 2d 271, 297 (E.D.N.Y. 2010pited States v.
Baxter, 372 F. Supp. 2d 1326, 1328 (M.D. Ala. 2003)jted States v. RatfieltNo. 01-8816-Civ, 2004 WL
3174420, at *23 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 30, 200¥pited States v. Franchr56 F. Supp. 889 (W.D. Pa. 1991).
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serious because the way his besm operation is structured casisaore violations than an
individual tax return pparer is capable ofherefore, the tax laws permit the Court to hold Stinson
accountable as a tax return preparer.

Section 7407(b) lists the progmed conduct to be enjoinéd.If a tax preparer has engaged
in the following activities, in relevant pathen injunctive relief may be appropriate:

(A) engaged in any conduct subjezpenalty under section 6694 or
6695, or subject to any criminal penatiyovided by this title, . . .

(C) guaranteed the payment of aay refund or the allowance of
any tax credit; or

(D) engaged in any other fraudulent or deceptive conduct which

substantially interferes with the proper administration of the Internal

Revenue laws.
26 U.S.C. 8§ 7407(b). The Government need ortiytsish by a preponderanogthe evidence that
Stinson engaged in conduct subject to penalty under 88 6694 orl&ti8sd States v. Ratfield
No. 01-8816-Civ, 2004 WL 3174420, at *23 (S.D. Fla. Nov. 30, 2004).

Pursuant to 8§ 6694, a tax preparer violatedritesnal Revenue laws where (1) the return
contains an understatement of liability; (2) thelenstatement is “due toposition for which there
was not a realistic possibility dfeing sustained on its meritsind (3) the preparer knew or
reasonably should have known tkia¢ position was either frivolows not disclosed. 26 U.S.C. 8
6694(a). Section 6694(a) is implicated where an individual rexgly understates tax liability.
Judisch v. United Stateg55 F.2d 823, 830 (11th Cir. 1985) (stating that § 6694 addresses

negligent understatement of téadbility). In contrast, § 6694 (binposes penalties on tax preparers

who prepare any return or claim for refund in axmex that violates 8§ 669 and does so willfully

53 Case law indicates that an analysis of the traditional equitable factors for injunctive relief is not
necessary to enter an injunction pursuant to 88 7407 and SE0&rnst & Whinney 35 F.2d at 130Z;railer
Train Co. v. State Bd. of Equalizati®®7 F.2d 860, 869 (9th Cir. 1983) (“The standard requirements for equitable
relief need not be satisfied when an injunction is sought to prevent the violation of a federal statute which
specifically provides for injunctive relief.”). To the exteng tlactors are relevant to the 88 7407 and 7408 analysis,
the Court analyzes the factors in its discussion regarding issuance of an injunction pursddffa)s
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or recklessly. 26 U.S.C. § 6694(b). “[W]illfulness doeot require fraudulent intent or an evil
motive; it merely requires a conscious actoamission made in thenlbwledge that a duty is
therefore not being metUnited States v. Bailey89 F. Supp. 788, 813 (N.D. Tex. 1992) (citing
Pickering v. United State§91 F.2d 853, 855 (8th Cir. 1982)).

A tax return preparer acts willlly “if the preparer disregards an attempt wrongfully to
reduce the tax liability of the xpayer, information furnished bydhaxpayer or other persons.”
United States v. Elsas878 F. Supp. 2d 901, 918 (S.D. Ohio 20&38jd 769 F.3d 390, 398 (6th
Cir. 2014)). A tax return prepareretklessly or intentionly” disregards an IS rule or regulation
“if the preparer takes a position dime return or claim for refund dh is contrary to a rule or
regulation . . . and the preparer knows of, ora&less in not knowing of, ehrule or regulation in
guestion.”ld. A tax return preparer i®€ckless in not knoimg a rule or regulation “if the preparer
makes little or no effort to determine whetheruée or regulation exists, under circumstances
which demonstrate a substantial deviation fromstaaedard of conduct thatreasonable preparer
would observe.d.

The Court finds that Stinson has violated both § 6694(a) & (b) because he has both
negligently and willfully prepared tax returnstvthe same types of false and improper claims
that served to wrongfully redutiee taxpayer’s liaitity. Notably, aside fronarguing that he is not
a tax return preparer, Stinsonedgonot even address 8 6694his brief. The Government has
presented evidence of numeradiax returns containing an undetstaent of liability due to
completely fabricated expensaspngfully claimed dependents head of household, wrongfully
claimed charitable contributionand fabricated business&ge United States v. Burge®. CV
16-4011, 2017 WL 373493, at *3 (D.N.J. Jan. 24, 2@ha)ding § 6694 violated by preparation
of tax returns understating customers’ correctitilities by fabricating dependents, Schedule C

businesses, expenses, tax credits] charitable contributionsifalsifying an amount on a tax
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return is not only “unreasonable,” it is willful condudhited States v. Franchr56 F. Supp. 889,
893 (W.D. Pa. 1991). It is also a willful violatidor Stinson to report amounts on tax returns that
are different from the amounprovided by the taxpaydtlsass 978 F. Supp. 2d at 918. Many
taxpayers testified that theydhaot provided the amounts used bg thx preparer, or that they
had provided a different amount.

Stinson took “unreasonable” or “reckless” pioss in the sense that he would report
personal expenses as businegseases, or commuting miles asddetible business miles. It is
common knowledge that commuting miles magt be deducted as a business expefise.
Steinhort v. C.I.R.335 F.2d 496, 503 (5th Cir. 1964). Stim not only claned non-deductible
expenses as deductible ones, but the amounisedaivere largely inflad. Stinson’s conduct was
repeated, continuous, and willful, occurring owaultiple years and in multiple stores. Stinson
knew or should have known that fabricating aroant on a tax return is unreasonable. The pattern
of improper claims on tax returns preparedtmson’s stores goes far beyond mere mistakes—
the “mistakes” were “unvaryingly in the taxpaydeor” and the exact same abusive claims were
repeated among taxpayer customehsited States v. Bailey89 F. Supp. 788, 818 (N.D. Tex.
1992). Though the Court finds that Stinson’s conduat wiiful, at the veryleast, it constituted
an “unrealistic positionin violation of § 6694.

Section 6695 of the Internal Renue Code penalizes a tax @eg who fails to: furnish a
copy of the tax return to the taeyeer; to sign a tax return; torfush an identifying number that
would secure the tax preparer'soper identification; to retain a copy or list of the tax return
pursuant to 8 6107(b); arlaim the EITC without complpg with the statutory due diligence
requirements26 U.S.C. 8 6695(a)—(d), (g). Notably,halding himself out as an experienced tax
preparer, Stinson is presumed to be familiar whthinternal Revenue laws, regulations, and case

law. United States Wenie 691 F. Supp. 834, 839 (M.D. Pa. 1988).
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Although he was aware of the@@rnment’s claims, Stinsonilied to address § 6695. (Doc.
219 at 193-198). To prevail under § 7407, it is sufficient that the Government demonstrate conduct
referredto in I.R.C. 8 7407(b). The Governmiea proffered numerous examples of due diligence
violations by Stinson and his employees. Fitst inherently impossible to conduct proper due
diligence while fabricating claims and amountsabtex return. Due diligence requires the tax
return preparer to make “reasonable inquiriesrieure a taxpayer’s entitlement to the EITC. 26
C.F.R. 8 1.6995-2. Putting a fake amount on »@ager’'s tax return is not due diligence.
Additionally, Stinson improperly completed tHae diligence checklist, Form 8867, by checking
boxes that the taxpayer had provided supportiogumentation when the taxpayers had not
provided such documentation. In addition, many taxysagiel not receive complete copies of their
tax returns, making it less likelypat the taxpayer would haveyaidea that the false amounts
appeared on the tax return.

The Court also finds that Stinson engagedather fraudulent or deceptive conduct”
because the goal of his business model was totesbetake advantage of low-income taxpayers.
Stinson lured customers intoshstore with the promise afaximum refunds, and—contrived—
maximum refunds he delivered. Many of higgayer customers recenvdarge refunds, which
enabled him to deduct a higher fee. Stinson’s customers testified that they trusted him to prepare
their taxes correctly, and that they sought higises because they did not know how to prepare
taxes. Stinson took advantage of his custongaseral lack of any tax law knowledge, and their
deference to his superior abilitisgch that they chose not to reatbugh their taxeturns. Stinson
relied on his customers practice to simplynsiheir tax returns ithout reading them.

Once the Government establisheny of the violations enwerated in § 7407, it need only
demonstrate that “injunctive lref is appropriate to prevémecurrence of such conduct.” 8§

7407(b)(2);United States v. StinspB61 F. App’x 945, 949 (11th Cir. 2016). Notably, if the court
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finds that a tax preparer “continually or regey” engaged in any of the abovementioned conduct
and that a narrower injunction wauhot be sufficient to prevent future interference with the
Internal Revenue laws, the court may enjoin {etson from acting aan income tax return
preparerErnst & Whinney735 F.2d at 1302-03.
The Court may consider the following factors determining whether a defendant is likely
to violate the law again:
(1) the gravity of the harm causedthg offense; (2) the extent of the
defendant’s participation; (3) tlteefendant’s degree of scienter; (4)
the isolated or recurrent naturetbé infraction; (5) the defendant’s
recognition (or non-recognition) ¢fis own culpability; and (6) the
likelihood that defendant’s occuan would place him in a position
where future violations could be anticipated
United States v. Estate Pres. Ser292 F.3d 1093, 1105 (9th Cir. 2000nited States v. Kaun
827 F.2d 1144, 1149-50 (7th Cir. 1987) (considerindgatiors for entry of an injunction pursuant
to 88 7402(a) and 7408)Jnited States v. MinerNo. 6:10-cv-1873-Orl-41DAB, 2014 WL
7361829, at *8 (M.D. Fla. Nov. 19, 201&)ting factors thafre almost identical to the Seventh
Circuit factors in determining the appropeaess of a permanemjunction under 88 7402 &
7408);United States v. Boss@®o. 8:01-cv-2154-T-17TBM, 2003 WL 1735481, at *3 (M.D. Fla.
Feb. 27, 2003) (granting permanent injuncfanviolations ofl.R.C. 88 6700, 6701, 6694, 6695).
Stinson has not discussed théssors in his brief and none tife factors fall in his favor.
1. Gravity of Harm
This factor strongly favors the Government. Stinson’s conduct spanned multiple years and
occurred at multiple store locations. The sheember of tax returns prepared by Stinson’s
stores—over 14,000—is cause for concern. Moreoitantly, Stinson targeted low-income
taxpayers and took advantage of their lackasf knowledge and the attractiveness of getting a

high tax refund. Stinson caused great harm to his low-income customers who have been audited

and now owe relatively ghificant sums to the IRS. Stinssrtonduct also drains administrative
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resources as the Government hasded to audit many tax returns and investigate Stinson’s stores.
United States v. Preisdlo. 1:07-cv-00589, 2008 WL 2413895,*&t(M.D.N.C June 11, 2008).
Stinson’s scheme additionally cadsgnificant harm to the United States Treasury and the public
by interfering with the proper administi@n of the Internal Revenue laws.

2. Extent of Stinson’s Participationand Stinson’s Degree of Scienter

These factors also favor tl&overnment. Stinson was thels@wner of the LLC that
owned and operated multiple tax preparation staf@sh were improperly preparing tax returns
in a manner that is striking—an obvious and oardus pattern of repting improper amounts for
the same types of claims. Stinson either kmevghould have known that his employees were
improperly preparing tax returnsvgin the pattern of false claimsade on numerous tax returns.
Stinson utilized scripts with predetermined respoasesthere is evidenceahlLBS instructed its
employees to reach a “magic number.” Ultimatehs the owner of the stores, Stinson is
responsible. If he did not instruct his pregrarto wrongfully claim these amounts on their
customers’ returns, he played an integk by failing to oversedis own employees and
correcting this practice.

3. The Isolated or Recurrent Nature of the Infraction, Stinson’s Recognition (or
Non-Recognition) of His Own Culpability,and Likelihood of Future Violations

These factors also favor the Government. Basdtie duration of the scheme and the large
number of returns that Stinson has prepared, thistisin isolated everBut more telling is that
Stinson has not recognized his own culpability pvided sincere assurances that such conduct
will not persist. At trial, Stinson showed rerse only that his operation had been halted, he had
lost a lot of friends, had beealled a crook and a fraud, and Haekn forced to borrow money
from his family. (Doc. 208 at 207—208). Not once Istinson recognized the harm he caused his
customers.

Based on the totality of the circumstances] aonsidering that all of these factors favor
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the Government, the Court determines thaingumction under 8§ 7407 pventing Stinson from
acting as an income tax return preparer is apatgpand necessary to prevent future interference
with the Internal Revenue lawSee United States v. HaNo. 12-893-cw/-GAF, 2013 WL
6989540, at *8 (W.D. Mo. Sept. 24) 23) (stating that becausefeledant’s conduct “encompassed
a broad range of false claims and deductions--as¢ false charitable deductions, Schedule C’s
and unreimbursed business expenses—a narjanction would not apmpriately deter”).
C. Count lI- Permanent Injunction Pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7408

Pursuant to § 7408, a court mayjoin an individual fronengaging in conduct subject to
a penalty under 26 U.S.C. 88 6700 or 6701, if atocdetermines that the individual has engaged
in the proscribed conduct and “injunctive relisf appropriate to pre@nt recurrence” of the
conduct. The Government contends that Stimssabject to penalty under § 6701. (Doc. No. 1 11
147-151). Section 6701 imposes a penalty upon any person who:

(1) aids or assistsnj procures, or advisesith respect to, the
preparation . . . of any portion of areturn . . .,

(2) . . . knows (or has reason to believe) that such portion will be
used in connection with any teaial matter arising under the
internal revenue laws, and

(3) . . . knows that such portionf o used) would result in an
understatement of liabilitior tax of another person.

26 U.S.C. 8 6701.

The term “procures” as used in 8 670icludes “ordering (or otherwise causing) a
subordinate to do an act,” as well as “knowingawfd not attempting to @vent, participation by a
subordinate in an actld. “If a particular statement has a substantial impact on the decision-
making process or produces a substantial tax li¢oef taxpayer, the matter is properly regarded
as ‘material.””United States v. Schif269 F. Supp. 2d 1262, 1271 (D. Nev. 2008)er clarified

No. cv-S-03-0281-LDG(RJJ), 2003 Wa5780163 (D. Nev. June 20, 2008jpd aff'd 379 F.3d
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621 (9th Cir. 2004). Similar to § 7407, in additiomteeting the requirements of a violation of §
6701, the Government must establish that an itijomds necessary to prevent the recurrence of
the conductUnited States Wugh 717 F. Supp. 2d 271, 297 (E.D.N.Y. 2010).

In United States v. Carlsothe Eleventh Circui€ourt of Appeals held that § 6701 requires
proof of fraud, and that the Government nmusive a violation of 701 by clear and convincing
evidence. 754 F.3d 1223, 1226-27 (11th Cir. 2014¢.Cburt further reasodehat an inaccurate
tax return standing alone is maifficient circumstantial evidende prove fraud because a mere
inaccuracy in a return does naggest that the tax return prepaeeew that the returns understated
the correct taxid. at 1230.

Stinson contends that the Government’s enak is insufficient to prevail under § 6701.
(Doc. 219 at 180). This is not the first time thmu@ has heard this argument. In denying Stinson’s
motion for summary judgment, pursuanQarlson the Court held:

The present case differs fro@arlsonin two important respects.
First, this is not a case addsing tax preparer penalties for a
violation of 8 6701. Rather, the Gawenent seeks injunctive relief,
pursuant to three separate provisiohghe Internal Revenue Code,
each of which independently provide for injunctive relief . . .
Second, the Government has ndteck on inaccurate tax returns
standing alone, but has providether circumstantial evidence of
Stinson’s wrongdoing.
(Doc. 143 at 8).

In considering Stinson’s interlocutory appeah Eleventh Circuit panel also rejected
Stinson’s argument. (Doc. 1631at) (stating that “Stinson’s camtion misapprehends the holding
in Carlsonand its application to the evidence in tb@ése.”). The Government’s evidence in this
case, including taxpayand preparer testimony, is more catipg than the eddence presented
in Carlson (Id.) The Government has presentedcumstantial evidnce, beyond mere

inaccuracies in tax returns, sufficient to shoat thtinson and his tax return preparers knowingly

and deliberately stated inaccurat@ounts on tax returns in order to maximize his customers’ tax
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refunds.

Stinson violated § 6701 by filing tax returnslmehalf of taxpayer @tomers that claimed
improper Schedule A deductions (including imper unreimbursed empleg expenses and fake
charitable contributions), inflated and someds completely fabricatl Schedule C business
expenses, and inaccurately calculated eligibilityttie EITC. “Badges of fraud” are abundant: the
“mistakes” or improper claims occur repeatedly in the same categories spanning multiple years
and multiple states; the mistakes were almost always in the taxpayers’ favor; the IRS determined
adjustments were required in those samegmates; only 137 of the Schedule C businesses
reported on returns prepared at Stinson’s s&perted a loss while 5,364 claimed a profit; many
of Stinson’s customers reported unreimburseg@leyee business expenses amounting to almost
half of their annual income; there is a pattermoé diligence violationgnany of the claims on
tax returns contradicted documents or infororaprovided by the taxpayer; and the taxpayers had
no idea these claims were on their return.

Stinson’s taxpayer customersceived substantial refundsising from these improper
deductions. These false deductiorlateeto a “material matter” because the taxpayers’ tax liability
was “directly affected,” and theiax refunds substaatly increased, by claiming these deductions.
See Elsas®978 F. Supp. 2d at 937. “Statements regaydne availability of credits, deductions,
or other means for reducing tax liability are materibliited States v. HansgeNo. 05-cv-0921-

L (CAB), 2006 WL 4075446, at *10 (C.D. Cal. Dd@®, 2006). Stinson has not provided evidence
or authority suggesting thiese amounts are not material.

It is well-established that commuter bless miles are a non-deductible expense; that
personal expenses, such as a personal cellgghare a non-deductible expense; and that
fabricating a business and itsr@sponding income and expensgesmproper. The tax return

preparers at Stinson’s stores liged at least a basic level oaining and Stinson asserts that he
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provided this basic training to his employees. Mg, a tax return preper, like Stinson, is
presumed to be familiar with the internal revelawes. Therefore, the Court concludes that Stinson
knew that the improper deductions claimed on téxrns prepared by his@ses understated the
tax liability of his customers and were Wiyamproper under the Internal Revenue Codenie
691 F. Supp. at 839.

All of the taxpayers testifiethat they had not provided tpeeparer with the false amounts
and did not know the amounts were on their taxrnstuMany of the taxpayers were shocked that
the claims were on their tax returns. The Counbispersuaded by Stins@rcontention that “each
of these citizens chose to subvert the InteR®&tenue laws on their own without the knowledge,
acquiescence, and assistance” of Stindenanchi, 756 F. Supp. at 893. Whether Stinson
personally or directly engaged in this conddmés not matter under 8§ 67B6&cause liability may
also be imposed on one who “aids or assists in, procures or advises.” 26 U.S.C. § 6701. Stinson,
as the company owner, certainly aided and assisted this conduct. The Government has presented
sufficient circumstantial evidence to infer tlgttnson knew that the claims he was making were
not only improper, but completely fabricated. Theref the Court concludéisat Stinson violated
8§ 6701.Baxter, 372 F. Supp. 2d at 1329. The Governnieag proven by clear and convincing
evidence that Stinson engagedfraudulent conducby making improperjnflated, and false
claims on tax returns that concerned a “material matter” and resulted in an understatement of
liability.

Under 8§ 7408, it is also proper for the Courtémsider whether Stion’s conduct is likely
to recur, and the Court may consider the samerfatd predict the likelinad of future violations.
U.S. v. ITS Fin., LLC592 F. App’x 387, 400 (6th Cir. 2014)eBause the analysis is the same as
outlined above in the discussion of a § 7407 injiomc the Court need not repeat it here. For the

same reasons as outlined above, the Court findsStiveton’s conduct is likglto be repeated in
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the future and that an umction under 8 7408 is warranted.
D. Count lll- Permanent Injunction Pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7402(a)

“In addition to IRC § 7408, IRG 7402(a) gives the districtourts power to issue
injunctions as may be necessaryappropriate for the enforcemesftthe internal revenue laws.”
Ratfield 2004 WL 3174420, at *22. The traditional fastdor entry of a permanent injunction
must be satisfied to issue an injunction pursuant to § 74@&¢est & Whinney735 F.2d at 1300.
“The language of § 7402(a) encoagges a broad range of powaesessary to compel compliance
with the tax laws.”ld. Furthermore, “there need not beslaowing that a paythas violated a
particular Internal Revenue Code sentin order for an injunction to issudd. “Even if [the
defendant’s] business structure somehow left [homiside the legal definition of tax return
preparer[], broad relief would still be appropeiaas 8 7402(a) is undoubtedly designed to prevent
individuals from undermining thNation’s tax laws through expling loopholes in the I.R.C.’s
overall regulatory schemeElsass 978 F. Supp. 2d at 941. “It is sufficient under § 7402 for the
Government to prove a pattern of gross negligemgecklessness, so long as injunctive relief is
‘necessary or appropriate for the enforcement of the internal revenue laws.” § 7402{g(.
States v. Stinsere61 F. App’'x 945, 952 (11th Cir. 2016)he Court has already found that
Stinson’s conduct interferes withe administration of the internedvenue laws. An injunction is
appropriate because the Court determines tledar#ditional equitablprinciples warrant it.

Under traditional equitable ipciples, the Government seeking a permanent injunction
must demonstrate: (1) it has suffered an irreparapley; (2) remedies available at law, such as
monetary damages, are inadequate to compefwatieat injury; (3) considering the balance of
hardships between the Government and Stinson, a remedy in equity ig&raad (4) the public

interest would not be disserved by a permanent injuna@Bay Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L,C
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547 U.S. 388, 391 (2006). Stinson has not addressed fhctors. After considering these factors
in light of the evidence presented at trial, thei@éinds that all fourdictors favor an injunction.

1. Irreparable Injury

The Government has suffered irreparable harm, including loss of millions of dollars to the
United States Treasury. The Government’s custsmave suffered irreparable harm because they
now owe additional taxes and penalties that thay not be able to afford. Stinson’s fraudulent
scheme has undermined the public trust in the tax laws. Furthermore, the Government has had to
expend administrative resourcewsestigating Stinson and conding audits. Last, absent an
injunction, the Government would b@rced to continue to uses®urces monitoring Stinson. For
these reasons, and because Stinson has not provided argument to the contrary, the Court finds that
the irreparable injury woultesult without annjunction.

2. Inadequate Remedies at Law

Though the Government need not prove thatehs an inadequate remedy at law under 8
7402(a),United States v. MolemNo. CIVS-03-1531 DFL GGH2003 WL 23190606, at *3 (E.D.
Cal. Dec. 12, 2003), the Court finds that thsr@o adequate remedy at law because Stinson’s
continued operation causes irreparable harmgatistomers and the public at large and there is
no way of stopping him from fraudulenthreparing taxes absent an injunctit@ther remedies
available to the Government inive actions against each individual taxpayer who follows [the tax
return preparer’s] advice” an esabvor that requires “the expendewf substantial amounts of the
limited resources of the IRS and nesarily would not be as effectivas enjoining [the tax return

preparer].”Ratfield 2004 WL 3174420, at *22.

3. Balance of Hardships
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The Government has demonstratieat the balance of hardshityss in its favor. At trial,
Stinson expressed that he Hast some friends and hasdn called a crook and a thief.
Additionally, Stinson has had to wow money from his family. Inantrast, if an injunction is not
granted, enormous administrativesources will be required taonitor him. The United States
Treasury is at risk of being wrongfully depleteidfunds. Continued opation of a fraudulent tax
business undermines the tax lafkdditionally, the hardsp the Court is most concerned about is
Stinson’s vulnerable customers, who will be harmed by his fraudulent tax preparation business
and who face financial hardships a result of Stimm making false claims on their tax returns.
The Court is cognizant that, if an injunctiorgignted, Stinson will be prohibited from operating
his tax preparation business. However, Stins@o awns rental reatstate property and an
injunction does not prevent him from making argyin any manner aside from tax preparation.
Therefore, the Court finds that the bada of hardships favors the Government.

4. Public Interest

The public interest factor also favors the Goweent. “By defrauding #IRS, [a tax return
preparer] is in reality defrauty every law-abiding American, who, at not insubstantial effort,
pays their due fund to#fprograms of the natiorPreiss 2008 WL 2413895, at *11. “[T]he public
has a strong interest in minimizing the numbefatde claims for refunds that are made and in
ensuring that tax preparers follow the lavd’ Furthermore, as outlined above, Stinson harms his
customers who are relying on Hisisiness to properly handle théaxes. In return, Stinson’s
business exposes these primarily low-income custsito individual tax liability, added interest,
and potential penalties.

The Court has determined that Stinson’s cohduerferes with th proper administration
of the internal revenue laws and that an injumctgappropriate and necessary to prevent future

harm. The Court has also considered the traditeopaitable factors and concluded that each factor
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favors the imposition of an injunction. Therefotlke Court finds an injunction pursuant to 8
7402(a) is warranted.
E. Disgorgement Pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7402(a)

Because “8§ 7402(a) encompasses a broad mymvers necessary to compel compliance
with the tax laws,” the Court has determined thagjdigement is an availabitemedy in this case.
See Mesadieul80 F. Supp. 3d at 1118 (quotikgynst & Whinney 735 F.2d at 1300).
Disgorgement in the amount ofdlafendant’s “ill-gotten gains’anstitutes a “fair and equitable”
remedy as it reminds the defendant of its legal alibgs, serves to detertfwe violations of the
Internal Revenue Code, and promotescessful administration of the tax lavid.

As a tax return preparer, Stinson is subjedhe remedy of dgorgement. (Doc. No. 143
at 10). Stinson should not be permitted to insukateself from liability because he delegates
responsibility for pregring tax returnsSee ITS Fin., LLC592 F. App’x at 397. Stinson argues,
without citation to authority, thdte cannot be held individually liable for disgorgement because
his LLC, and not he, receivedetitax preparation fees. (Do219 at 188). The Court is not
persuaded. First, the Government presemedence that Stinson commingled personal and
business funds in his LLC’s bank accounts, arat 8tinson had signature authority on those
accounts. Second, disgorgement is an equitabiedg the purpose of which is to divest Stinson
of funds he receiveddm his fraudulent conducgee United States v. Lawrenté®. 15-62233-
ClV, 2016 WL 5390569, at *6 (S.D. Fla. Sept. 2016). Because Stinson’s unjust enrichment
was directly derived from utilizing his LLC &da conduit for improper and fraudulent tax return
preparation,” Stinson may be ordereddisgorge those ill-gotten gainisl. Third, Stinson is
responsible for the tortious acts he has commifeé.L.C.L Theatres, Inc. v. Columbia Pictures

Indus., Inc 619, F.2d 455, 457 (5th Cir. 198bYholding that it is unecessary to pierce the

54 |n Bonner v. City of Prichard, Ala661 F.2d 1206, 1207 (11th Cir. 1981), the Eleventh Circuit held that
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corporate veil because “[a]n officer or any atlagent of a corporation may be personally as
responsible as the corporatioself for tortious acts when gecipating in the wrongdoing.”see
also Buckner v. Luther Camphdlo. 09-22815-CIV, 2010 WL 5058314, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Dec. 6,
2010) (“[1]f an officer, direabr, or agent commits or participaias tort, whether or not his actions
are by authority of the corporation or in furtherarf the corporate busis® that individual will
be liable to third persons injured by his actioregardless of whether liability attaches to the
corporation for the tort.”)Special Purpose Accounts Reedike Co-op Corp. v. Prime One
Capital Co., L.L.C, 125 F. Supp. 2d 1093, 1104 (S.D. Fla. 200QJH(le it is true that a director
or an officer is not personally liable for any act or failure to act regarding corporate management
or policy, it does not follow that éhofficer or individual is shieldefiom accountability for tortious
conduct.”).

To be entitled to disgorgement, the pldimied only produce a reasonable approximation
of the defendant’s ill-gotten gainSee S.E.C. v. Caly@78 F.3d 1211, 1217 (11th Cir. 2004).
“Exactitude is not a requiremerstp long as the measure of disggement is reasonable, any risk
of uncertainty should fall on the wrongdoer whdkgal conduct created that uncertaintid”
Once a plaintiff presents its estimate, the burdensstufthe defendant to show that the plaintiff's
estimate was not a reasonable approxima®oB.C. v. Lauerd78 F. App’x 550, 557 (11th Cir.
2012). If “a defendant’s record-kdag or lack thereof has so ahsed matters that calculating
the exact amount of illicit gainsannot be accomplishedthout incurring inodinate expense, a
court may set disgorgement at the more readiasurable proceeds received from the unlawful
transactions.ld. There must be a “relationship betwee amount of disgorgement and the

amount of ill-gotten gain,” and a district courtynaot order disgorgement of an amount obtained

the decisions of the Former Fifth Gitthanded down before September 3@118hall be binding as precedent in
the Eleventh Circuit.
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without wrongdoing or obtained dag a period where there is no record evidence of fraud.

C.F.T.C. v. Sidoti178 F.3d 1132, 1138 (11th Cir. 1999). Therefore, a court’s power to order

disgorgement is not unlimited. &xtends only to the amountettdefendant profited from his

wrongdoing.S.E.C. v. ETS Payphones, |08 F.3d 727, 735 (11th Cir. 2005). Any additional

sum is impermissible as it would constitute a penédty.

The Government has requested $1,584,481.7%&gargement award. (Doc. 218 at 99).

The Government breaks this request into the following categ@e=PDpc. 218 at 97-99):

Amount

Tax Years
(not year of

filing)

Explanation

Category (1):

$800,101.47

2012, 2013,
2014

In these years, Stinson’s stores filed 1,965 tax ret

with a Form Schedule Ana 1,861 of those tax returns

urns

had a Form Schedule A claiming unreimbursed employee

business expenses. The amount here is the total
Stinson collected from those 1,861 tax returns. (Pl.’s
768).

Category (2):

$149,851.00

2011

This fee amount is dertyeonly from tax returns that

identify Stinson as the paid preparer and that includ

Schedule A, Schedule C, ceported education credits

fees
Ex.

ed a

where (1) no Form 1098-T was issued by an education

institution for the taxpayer or a dependent; or (2)
grants or scholarships reported on the Form 104
exceeded qualifying education expenses. Bec
Stinson was shown to have fabricated education expt
and claimed personal expenses as business expens
Government contends that féfesm these tax returns a
appropriate for disgorgement. (PI's Ex. 771).

Category (3):

$155,344.50

2011, 2012,
2013

This amount represents fees Stinson received fol
returns that the IRS udited during Mr.
investigation of Stinsonand that were found t
underreport tax. (Pl.’s Ex. 774).

Poole’s

the
D8-T
ause
BNses
es, the
re

tax
D

o

Category (4):

$32,185.00

2012, 2013,
2014

This amounts represents fees Stinson received foy the

preparation of tax returnsrf@austomers residing outsig
of Florida whose depositionggmony was introduced &
trial. (Pl.’s Ex. 772).

e
nt

Category (5):

$29,775.00

2011, 2014

This amount represerieees Stinson received fro
customers who testified at trial that there were fabric

m
ated

the Middle District of Floida ($15,141 in fees), fiv

amounts on their tax returns, including customers w}hin

customers whose depositiowsre stipulated to ($8,630
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in fees), and other depositioadmitted at the preliminarny
injunction hearing ($6,004 ifees). (Pl.'s Exs. 462 &

463).
Category (6): 2013 This amount is derived from Ms. Shields’s 2016
sampling. Ms. Shields found a 75% error rate. The fees
$440,995.82 collected from the Tangp sample totaled $376,833.93

(Pl’s Ex. 777), 75% of #it is $282,625.45. The fees frgm
the St. Petersburg sampietaled $211,160.49, 75% of
that is $158,370.37 (Pl's Ex. 777). This amount
represents the total of 75%f the fees from the Sf.
Petersburg sample and the Tampa Sample.

TOTAL $1,608,252.7%

The Government’s request fortab fees from all of these categories is not a reasonable
approximation because the Court cannot discern whether fees from categories (1) and (2), which
includes years 2011-2014, are duplicated in categories (3), (4), (5), and (6) because those
categories include fees from the same yeHlrss not a reasonable approximation to seek
disgorgement from Stinson for twice the amounfeek for the same tax returns. For this reason,
the Court will not order a disgorgement awéod the fee amounts in categories (3)—(6). The
Government has not shown that fees in thosegecaites are distinct fees from those already
included in categories (1) and (2).

The Court finds that the amount of fe@s category (1) remsents a reasonable
approximation of Stinson’s “ill-gotten gain” bacse this amount encompasses all the years that
the Government presented evidence of frauddenpractices and al§ocuses on the categories
where the Court has found a pattern of abusliaiens (Form Schedule As reporting unreimbursed
employee business expenses). Furthermore, thd flus that the fees from category (2) are also

reasonable because they are fees derived fronetiarns that Stinson himself prepared, they also

%5 |n the Government's brief, it asks for $1,584,481.79 (Doc. 218 at 99). The Court is unable to calculate
this total from the amounts given by the Government, as outlined in this chart.
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consist of categories where fraud was prominert,the fees are derived from a tax year that was
not included in category (1). Because the Govemt presented evidence of fabricated amounts
on Schedule As, Schedule Cs, and with regaedtwation credits andradr deductions, on “return
after return,” the Court finds it reasonable to tesereturns containing thedypes of claims to
approximate Stinson’s unjust enrichmedarber, 591 F. App’x at 813. Tén Court finds that the
total fees from categories (1) and {23949,952.47—fairly encompasse¢he other proposed
categories of fees, without duplication, and repmnésa reasonable approximation of Stinson’s ill-
gotten gains. The burden then shifts to Stinsm demonstrate that the Government has not
presented a reasonable approximation.

Out of Stinson’s two-hundred plus pages of post-trial briefing, beated approximately
two pages to the issue of disgement, no part of which arguestithe Government’s calculations
are not reasonable. (Doc. 219 at 211122 Stinson’s argument appeardéathat it is not his burden
to come forward with a reasonable approximatma that the Government has not identified
fraudulent returns nor provided “upper andvés bounds” of “confidence intervals” or a
statistically random sampldd( at 211). Stinson imcorrect—the burden gted to him once the
Government presented a reasonablereximation of his ill-gotten gainsauer, 478 F. App’x at
557. Because at least part of the Governmeatisgorgement amount represents a reasonable
approximation of Stinson’s unjust enrichmentdaStinson has not shown that this amount is
unreasonable, the Court will order disgorgenietite amount of $949,952.47. The Court declines
to entertain Stinson’s abrd request for sanctions against the Government.

F. ORDER OF PERMANENT INJUNCTION

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds in favothef Plaintiff, United States of America,

and the Court enters the followil@RDER of permanent injunction agnst Defendant, Jason P.

Stinson:
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A. Jason Stinson, and all those in actm@ncert or participation with him, is
permanently enjoined from:

(2) acting as a federal tax retypreparer or requestingssasting in, or directing the

preparation or filing of federahx returns, amended returis,other related documents or

forms for any person or entity other than himself;

(2) preparing or assisting preparing federal tax retwsthat he knows or reasonably

should have known would result in an understeiet of tax liability or the overstatement

of federal tax refund(s) as penalized by I.R.C. § 6694;

3) owning, operating, managing, working @entrolling, licensing, consulting with,

or franchising a tax return preparation business;

4) training, instructing, teaching, and cragtor providing cheat sheets, memoranda,

directions, instructions, or maals, pertaining to the prepacet of federal tax returns;

(5) engaging in any other activity sebj to penalty under I.R.C. 88 6694, 6695, 6701,

or any other penalty provision in the I.R.C.;

(6) maintaining, assigning, holding, using,afntaining a Preparer Tax ldentification

Number (PTIN) or an Electronic Filg Identification Number (EFIN); and

(7 engaging in any conduct that substantiedterferes with th proper administration

and enforcement of the internal revenue laws.

B. Jason Stinson shall immediately andnpenently close all tareturn preparation
stores that he owns directly through Nation Tax Services, LL.Gr any other entity, and whether
those stores do business as LBS Tax Serid&son Tax Services, or under any other name.

C. Jason Stinson is prohibited, eitheedity or through Nation Tax Services, LLC or

any other entity, from assigningatrsferring, or selling any frahise agreement, independent
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contractor agreement, or emphognt contract related to LBS Tax Services, Nation Tax Services,
or any other tax return @paration business to whible or any entity underis control is a party.

D. Jason Stinson is barred from: (1) selling to any individual or entity a list of
customers, or any other customer informatfonyvhom Jason Stinson, LBS Tax Services, Nation
Tax Services, and any other business or namaghravhich Stinson or thoseting at his direction
have at any time since 2010 prepared a t&xrme (2) assigning, disseminating, providing, or
giving to any current or former franchisee, Geh8ales Manager, DistriGales Manager, other
manager, tax return preparer, employee, orgaddent contractor of i@son, LBS Tax Services,
Nation Tax Services, or any othausiness through which Stinsorepares tax returns or owns or
franchises a tax return prepacstibusiness, a list of customersamry other customer information
for customers for whom Jason Stinson, LBS Ba&xvices, Nation Tax ®édces, and any other
business or name through which Stinson or ttaadimg at his directiomave at any time since
2010 prepared a tax returgmd (3) selling to any individual @ntity any proprietary information
pertaining to LBS Tax Services, Nation Tax $e2g, and any other business or name through
which Stinson or those actinglas direction have at any tinsgnce 2010 prepared a tax return.

E. Jason Stinson shall contact, withinda@s of this Order, bynited States mail and,
if an e-mail address is known, by e-mail, aligmns for whom Jason Stinson, LBS Tax Services
stores owned or managed by Stinson, and NationSkEavices prepared federal tax returns or
claims for a refund for tax years 2010 through firesent to inform them of the permanent
injunction entered against him, including sendangppy of this Order burtot enclosing any other
documents or enclosures unless agreed toobysel for the United States or approved by the
Court.

F. Jason Stinson shall produce to counselife United States, within 30 days of this

Order, a list that identifies by mee, social security number, adds, e-mail address, and telephone
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number and tax period(g)l persons for whom Jas Stinson, LBS Tax Services stores owned or
managed by Stinson, and Nation Tax Services pedp@deral tax returns ataims for a refund
for tax years beginning in 2010 and continuing through this litigation.

G. Jason Stinson shall produce to coungeihe United States, within 30 days of this
Order, a list that identifies hyame, address, e-mail address, and telephone number all principals,
officers, managers, franchisees, employees, iatejpendent contractors of Stinson, LBS Tax
Services stores owned or managed by Stinaond,Nation Tax Services, LLC, from 2010 to the
present.

H. Jason Stinson shall provide a copy of @ider to all principals, officers, managers,
franchisees, employees, and independent adotsaof Stinson and Nian Tax Services, LLC,
within 15 days of this Order, and provide to ceeirfor the United States within 30 days a signed
and dated acknowledgment of receipt of thidé€ifor each person whom Jason Stinson provided
a copy of this Order.

l. The Court retains jurisdiction over dasStinson and over this action to enforce
this permanent injunction entered against him.

J. The United States is permitted tandoct discovery to monitor Jason Stinson’s
compliance with the terms of thisnpeanent injunction entered against him.

G. CONCLUSION

The Court has determined that Stinsonldteknjoined under 28.S.C. 88 7402(a), 7407,
7408. The Court further determined that agdigement remedy isppropriate. Based on the
foregoing, it iSORDERED as follows:

1. The Clerk iSDIRECTED to enter judgment providing that the Plaintiff the United States

of America shall recover from the Defenddason P. Stinson a judgment in the amount of
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$949,952.47 as equitable monetary relief. The Plaintiff the United States of America shall
recover costs of this action.

2. Further, the Court orders that the Defendasbvdd. Stinson shall be permanently enjoined
as provided in § F. (p. 45-48) above.

3. The clerk iSDIRECTED to close this case.

DONE andORDERED in Chambers, in Orlando, Florida on March 6, 2017.

%«Al/éwa%

A\*\TE C. CONWAY
Umted States District Judge /

Copies furnished to:

Counsel of Record
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